The γ-Hydroxybutyrate Withdrawal Syndrome

Asim F. Tarabar and Lewis S. Nelson

New York City Poison Control Center, New York, New York, USA

Contents

Abstract	45
1. Pharmacokinetics	46
2. Neuropharmacology of γ-Hydroxybutyrate (GHB) Withdrawal	46
3. Withdrawal Following GHB Overuse	46
4. Withdrawal Following Therapeutic Use of Sodium Oxybate	47
5. Signs and Symptoms of GHB Withdrawal	47
6. γ-Butyrolactone Withdrawal	47
7. Laboratory Testing	47
8. Treatment	48
8.1 Benzodiazepines	48
8.2 Phenothiazines	48
8.3 Pentobarbital/Propofol	48
9. Conclusion	48

Abstract

 γ -Hydroxybutyrate (GHB) is endogenous inhibitory transmitter that, when administered in pharmacological doses, has sedative-hypnotic properties. It is used in anaesthesia for the treatment of narcolepsy/catalepsy and in alcohol/opioid detoxification treatment regimens. Based on its purported anabolic effects, GHB use became established among bodybuilders. As the euphorigenic effects of GHB became publicised, attendees at dance clubs and rave parties began to use it alone or in combination with other psychoactive drugs. Following the ban of GHB in 1990, several precursor products (e.g. γ -butyrolactone, butanediol) became widely used as replacement drugs until their ultimate proscription from lawful use in 2000. GHB and its precursors, like most sedative-hypnotic agents, can induce tolerance and produce dependence. Although many GHB users will experience a mild withdrawal syndrome upon drug discontinuation, those with chronic heavy GHB use can experience severe withdrawal. This syndrome clinically resembles the withdrawal syndrome noted from alcohol and other sedative-hypnotic drugs (e.g. benzodiazepines). Distinct clinical features of GHB withdrawal are its relatively mild and brief autonomic instability with prolonged psychotic symptoms. Patients with fulminant GHB withdrawal require aggressive treatment with cross-tolerant sedative hypnotics, such as benzodiazepines.

 γ -Hydroxybutyrate (GHB) was synthesised in 1960. Although the initial use of GHB started within the bodybuilding community, its greatest public health threat has come from its use as an illicit drug. After the US FDA banned nonprescription GHB in 1990,^[1] users turned to its prodrugs: γ -butyrolactone (GBL) and 1,4-butanediol (1,2-BD), which are widely available as industrial solvents. Although classified as a schedule I drug by the Drug Enforcement Administration in 2000,^[1] GHB and its precursors remain popular drugs in dancing clubs and during 'rave parties' due to their euphorigenic properties. Unfortunately, GHB and its precursors also became notorious for use as 'rape drugs' because of their potent amnestic properties and simple administration (e.g. clear, colourless, relatively tasteless fluid). It is this latter use that prompted the scheduling of the GHB precursors in 2000 with the passage of the Hillory J. Farias and Samantha Reid Date Rape Drug Prohibition Act.^[2] Despite this regulatory effort, the use of GHB and its analogues (GBL, 1,2-BD) are continuing to increase.^[3] It is widely assumed, as it is in this paper, that the effects of the precursor agents are identical to GHB.

Shortly after the appearance of GHB, it became apparent that chronic, heavy GHB use was capable of producing tolerance, dependence and withdrawal. This phenomenon was initially limited to bodybuilders who were using GHB and its analogues as dietary supplements because of purported 'fat-burning' and 'growth hormone-releasing' effects.^[4] Studies in volunteers suggested that GHB use may in fact be associated with alterations of slow-wave sleep in normal subjects and can simultaneously enhance sleep-related growth hormone secretion.^[5] Regardless of its effects on the sleep cycle, it was (and remains) common practice to administer GHB several times daily in the belief that GHB has anabolic effects.

Currently, GHB is used as an anaesthetic agent (in Europe), for the treatment of alcohol withdrawal,^[6,7] and in the US and Europe for the treatment of narcolepsy (sold as sodium oxybate, or Xyrem[®]).^{1[8]} Interestingly, some patients are self-medicating with GHB to reduce alcohol intake.^[9]

1. Pharmacokinetics

Exogenous GHB is very rapidly absorbed after oral administration, with peak plasma concentration between 20 and 60 minutes. Its very short half-life of 20 minutes^[10] explains the need for frequent (e.g. every 3–4 hours) repetitive dosing in chronic abusers. Due to the short half-life, signs of GHB withdrawal usually occur between 1 and 6 hours after the last dose.^[11] GBL is closely related to GHB and produces similar clinical effects. It is more bioavailable and lipophilic than GHB. After rapid absorption, GBL is hydrolysed to GHB by a circulating lactonase.^[12] Similarly, butanediol must be oxidised to GHB by alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) and aldehyde dehydrogenase.^[13] Although alcohol abuse does not alter the pharmacokinetics of GHB,^[14] it may alter the metabolism of GHB precursors. For example, butanediol's metabolism by ADH may be inhibited by ethanol, for which ADH has a greater affinity.

2. Neuropharmacology of $\gamma\text{-Hydroxybutyrate}$ (GHB) Withdrawal

GHB is a naturally occurring short-chain fatty acid that may act as a neurotransmitter in the mammalian brain.^[15] It is generated through the metabolism of one of the major inhibitory neurotransmitters, y-aminobutyric acid (GABA). This reaction occurs through the intermediate metabolite, GABA-derived succinic semialdehyde, which is converted to GHB. GHB can also be converted back to GABA via GHB dehydrogenase.^[16] However, unlike other sedative hypnotics (e.g. benzodiazepines, barbiturates, ethanol), GHB does not affect GABAA receptors.^[17] GHB in supraphysiological concentration may bind and agonise GABAB receptors.^[18] Through GABA_B receptors GHB inhibits dopamine release and probably causes up-regulation of dopamine receptors.^[19] Based on several lines of evidence, including the existence of specific high-affinity binding sites for GHB in rat brain,^[20] as well as the existence of specific enzyme and high-affinity uptake system for GHB,^[21,22] the existence of the specific GHB receptors are postulated. However, it is important to note that the clinical effects of GHB are clinically indistinguishable from the effects of other sedative-hypnotics that act through GABAA receptors. The same holds true for the symptoms of GHB and sedative-hypnotic withdrawal. GHB withdrawal is probably mediated largely through the loss of GHB- and GABA-mediated inhibition.[11]

An animal model of GHB tolerance and withdrawal has been developed, which demonstrated that these effects can develop very rapidly (i.e. several days).^[23] It was proposed that tolerance to GHB is result of two mechanisms: induction of GHB metabolism and decrease in CNS sensitivity to GHB.^[24]

3. Withdrawal Following GHB Overuse

Because of the different regimens by which the drug is administered, withdrawal is more common among bodybuilders who use the drug in a several-times-daily dosing schedule for weeks than among club users who generally use GHB on weekends only. However, there are reports of clinically significant withdrawal syndromes in patients who used GHB and its analogues as sleep aids.^[25] The estimated daily dose of GHB, used by the patients who experienced severe withdrawal, ranged between 43 and 144 g/day.^[11]

¹ The use of trade names is for product identification purposes only and does not imply endorsement.

4. Withdrawal Following Therapeutic Use of Sodium Oxybate

The abrupt cessation of sodium oxybate, the pharmaceutical form of GHB, in the treatment of narcolepsy did not produce an identifiable withdrawal syndrome.^[8] Narcolepsy patients who were receiving sodium oxybate in the range of 3–9g nightly for up to 44 months experienced minimal symptoms upon discontinuation of therapy.^[8] This information supports that GHB withdrawal is unlikely in once-daily users, but can be expected in the subpopulation that is using GHB more frequently (e.g. every 3–4 hours).

The anxiolytic and myorelaxant dose of GHB is approximately 10 mg/kg, while a dose between 20–30 mg/kg is hypnotic. Coma is usually induced at dosages of 50 mg/kg.^[26] More than 50% of recreational GHB users reported using GHB not more than once a week, with an average of 1–3 capfuls at 2–3 times per day/ night.^[27] The 'capful' concentration of a street dose may vary from 500mg to 5g per dose.^[27]

5. Signs and Symptoms of GHB Withdrawal

Clinically, withdrawal from GHB and its precursors is nearly identical to the alcohol or sedative-hypnotic withdrawal syndrome with which clinicians are more familiar. One of the early signs reported in patients with GHB withdrawal is disabling insomnia with the patient commonly complaining that he/she "had not slept in a week".^[28] Some patients experience severe anxiety or a sense of impending doom, which may last for a week.^[29] As with alcohol withdrawal, tremulousness is common and seizures may occur. With increasingly severe withdrawal, delirium with auditory and visual hallucinations, disorientation and severe agitation may occur. A distinct feature of GHB withdrawal, which differentiates it from alcohol withdrawal, is the relative paucity of significant autonomic instability (e.g. diaphoresis, tachycardia, hypertension). Unlike the alcohol withdrawal syndrome, seizures are uncommon in patients with GHB withdrawal.

The time course of the GHB withdrawal syndrome also varies considerably from that of alcohol withdrawal. While the alcohol withdrawal syndrome does not typically become significant for 12–24 hours after the last intake of ethanol, GHB withdrawal, as noted, often manifests 1–6 hours after last use. Despite its abrupt onset, the delirium of GHB withdrawal may last up to 2 weeks, whereas the alcohol withdrawal syndrome is generally complete by 7 days. The prolonged delirium and psychosis associated with GHB withdrawal may relate to GABA_B associated up-regulation of dopamine receptors.

As noted, the majority of patients with GHB withdrawal are fitness enthusiasts. However, even recreational GHB users may experience very mild and nonspecific symptoms including anxiety and tremors that serves to reinforce their addictive behaviour.^[29] The diagnosis of GHB withdrawal should therefore be suspected in any patient who is known to be a user of GHB or one of its precursors. Similarly, this diagnosis should be considered in patients who by history or physical examination are serious weight trainers who present with delirium or agitation. If history of sedative-hypnotic abuse is lacking, it is possible that these patients are misdiagnosed and transferred to a psychiatric unit.

6. γ-Butyrolactone Withdrawal

Multiple case reports describe a similar syndrome as with GHB withdrawal, including: mild tachycardia and hypertension, paranoid delusions, hallucinations and rapid fluctuations in sensorium.^[30-32] As with GHB, the majority of the cases involved bodybuilders who were using GBL for several months on a daily, around-the-clock regimen. Severe GBL withdrawal requires intensive care unit admission and aggressive treatment with sedative hypnotics.^[11]

7. Laboratory Testing

GHB levels, although able to be obtained from reference laboratories, are not helpful for establishing the diagnosis of GHB or precursor withdrawal. This is reminiscent of alcohol withdrawal, where even having the blood alcohol concentration readily available is not helpful in the diagnosis due to the large degree of tolerance some users experience. The patient's urine generally remains positive for GHB for 12 hours after the last use.^[33] As GHB testing is not available in a clinically relevant manner, its use should be reserved for forensic purposes.

Every patient with severe signs of GHB withdrawal should have electrolytes, creatine phosphokinase and urine examined to rule out rhabdomyolysis and consequent renal failure and dysrhythmia in patients with severe agitation. Obtaining a urine toxicology screen for drugs of abuse may be helpful from a longterm psychiatric management perspective, but generally has little impact on the management of the acute episode.

Patients who present with GHB or precursor withdrawal-related delirium, psychosis or agitation, or without a clear history of abuse, should have an appropriate medical work-up to exclude other causes before the diagnosis of withdrawal is established. This often includes obtaining a head computed tomography scan and performing a lumbar puncture to eliminate the possibility of CNS processes such as encephalitis, meningitis or trauma. Note that given the aforementioned use of GHB to temper the use of alcohol, alcohol withdrawal and GHB withdrawal can coexist, complicating the clinical diagnosis and management.^[9]

8. Treatment

The majority of patients with mild symptoms of GHB withdrawal can be treated as outpatients with the use of long-acting benzodiazepines. Those with more severe signs and symptoms require aggressive inpatient care to prevent injury, hyperthermia and rhabdomyolysis, as well as to control the symptoms of psychosis. GHB users are commonly polysubstance abusers, and they may experience concurrent ethanol or benzodiazepine withdrawal. Also, other comorbidities should be sought and appropriately managed (e.g. hypoglycaemia, seizures, thiamine deficiency).

8.1 Benzodiazepines

Conceptually, the preferred therapy for any substance withdrawal syndrome would be reintroduction of the implicated substance, in this case GHB. Of course this is problematic given the drug's legal status and difficulty obtaining the medicinal preparation. Sodium oxybate is a schedule III agent (oxybate is a unique drug that is dual scheduled) and release of the drug requires that the patient be entered into a registry and the drug must be obtained directly from the supplier.

Therefore, the mainstay of the therapy for GHB withdrawal is sedation with benzodiazepines. Benzodiazepines are GABAA agonists and, as such, do not function in a truly equivalent pharmacological manner as GHB. However, the clinical effects are comparable and they moderate the withdrawal syndrome allowing time for clinical recovery. The specific benzodiazepine and dosage chosen is relatively unimportant providing an appropriate dosage regimen is followed. As during therapy of the alcohol withdrawal syndrome, symptom-triggered therapy is preferred^[34] rather than dosing on a strict schedule. The drug should be administered initially in rapidly escalating doses until control of agitation or delirium is achieved while observing closely for the signs of respiratory depression. Some patients will not respond to the treatment with standard doses of benzodiazepines and will require unusually high doses; up to 2655mg of diazepam over 90 hours is reported.^[35] This is readily explained by the fact that cross-tolerance is not complete; that is, the GABAA receptor is not solely responsible for the clinical effects of GHB nor for its withdrawal syndrome. One possibility, as in ethanol withdrawal, may be that tonic inhibition by GHB of the glutamatergic excitatory neurotransmitter system results in its up-regulation.^[36] Upon withdrawal of the inhibitory agent (i.e. GHB) hyperexcitability results, and since this is mediated by the NMDA-glutamate receptor complex it is insensitive to benzodiazepines. Correspondingly, although GHB may moderate the alcohol withdrawal syndrome,^[6,7] ethanol may not be sufficiently cross-tolerant to treat GHB withdrawal.^[25]

8.2 Phenothiazines

Patients who lack the history of the GHB addiction and abuse and who present with hallucination and/or frank psychosis may be admitted directly to psychiatry and treated with antipsychotic medication. The use of these agents in the treatment of GHB withdrawal is generally considered inappropriate due to their presumed lack of efficacy and significant adverse effects, e.g. anticholinergic effects, dystonic reactions and prolongation of the corrected QT interval with the risk of cardiac dysrhythmias and the possibility of lowering the patient's seizure threshold.^[37] It is very important to elicit the history of GHB abuse in any patients that presents with psychotic features, especially if the patient is lacking previous history of psychiatric disorder.

8.3 Pentobarbital/Propofol

It is prudent that in patients with 'benzodiazepine-resistant' GHB withdrawal the clinician consider the addition of other pharmacotherapy with barbiturates and propofol. Because of its capability to directly open both GABAA and voltage-gated chloride channels, these drugs should be successful at sedating even the most benzodiazepine-resistant GHB/GBL withdrawal patient.^[30] It is important to observe patients for signs and symptoms of respiratory depression and intervene earlier to protect the airway and to maintain adequate ventilation/oxygenation.

9. Conclusion

GHB withdrawal remains a relatively rare phenomenon. Although therapeutic use of prescription GHB (sodium oxybate) is not associated with withdrawal upon cessation, mild, clinically insignificant symptoms of withdrawal may occur in recreational users. Most cases of severe withdrawal occur in bodybuilders and others who use exceedingly high doses, several times daily, for prolonged periods of time. Aggressive therapy with cross-tolerant sedative agents such as benzodiazepines or propofol must be utilised to control the patient's behaviour and to avoid complications (e.g. rhabdomyolysis, hyperthermia, death).

Acknowledgements

No sources of funding were used to assist in the preparation of this manuscript and there are no conflicts of interest directly relevant to the content of this review.

References

- Smith KM, Larive LA, Romanelli F. Club drugs: methylenedioxymethamphetamine, flunitrazepam, ketamine hydrochloride, and gammahydroxybutyrate. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2002; 56: 1067-76
- Placement of gamma-butyrolactone in List I of the Controlled Substances Act (21 U. S.C. 802(34)). Drug Enforcement Administration, Justice. Final rule. Fed Regist 2000 Apr 24; 65 (79): 21645-7
- Drug Abuse Warning Network. The DAWN report [online]. Available from URL: http://www.samsha.gov/oas/dawn.htm [Accessed 2004 Feb 29]
- Takahara J, Yunoki S, Yakushiji W, et al. Stimulatory effects of gammahydroxybutyric acid on growth hormone and prolactin release in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1977; 44 (5): 1014-7
- Van Cauter E, Plat L, Scharf MB, et al. Simultaneous stimulation of slow-wave sleep and growth hormone secretion by gamma-hydroxybutyrate in normal young men. J Clin Invest 1997; 100 (3): 745-53
- Gallimberti L, Canton G, Gentile N, et al. Gamma-hydroxybutyric acid for treatment of alcohol withdrawal syndrome. Lancet 1989; II: 787-9
- Gallimberti L, Ferri M, Ferrara SD, et al. Gamma-hydroxybutyric acid in the treatment of alcohol dependence: a double-blind study. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1992; 16: 673-6
- US Xyrem® Multi-Center Study Group. The abrupt cessation of therapeutically administered sodium oxybate (GHB) does not produce withdrawal symptoms. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 2003; 41 (5): 131-5
- Glisson JK, Norton J. Self-medication with γ-hydroxybutyrate to reduce alcohol intake. South Med J 2002; 95 (8): 926-8
- 10. Vickers M. Gamma-hydroxybutyric acid. Int Anesthesiol Clin 1969; 7: 75-9
- Dyer JE, Roth B, Hyma BA. Gamma-hydroxybutyrate withdrawal syndrome. Ann Emerg Med 2001; 37: 147-53
- Rambourg-Schepens MO, Buffet M, Durak C, et al. Gamma-butyrolactone poisoning and its similarities to gamma-hydroxybutyric acid: two case reports. Vet Hum Toxicol 1997; 39: 234-5
- Snead OC, Furner R, Liu CC. In vivo conversion of gamma-aminobutyric acid in rat brain: studies using stable isotopes. Biochem Pharmacol 1989; 38: 4375-80
- Ferrara SD, Zoti S, Tedeschi L, et al. Pharmacokinetics of gamma-hydroxybutyric acid in alcohol dependent patients after single and repeated oral doses. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1992; 34: 231-5
- Wong CGT, Gibson MK, Snead CO. From the street to the brain: neurobiology of the recreational drug γ-hydroxybutyric acid. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2004; 25 (1): 29-34
- Maitre M. The γ-hydroxybutyrate signaling system in brain: organization and functional implications. Prog Neurobiol 1997; 51: 337-61
- Serra M, Sanna E, Foddi C, et al. Failure of gamma-hydroxybutyrate to alter the function of the GABA_A receptor complex in the rat cerebral cortex. Psychopharmacology 1991; 104: 351-5
- Xie X, Smart TG. Gamma-hydroxybutyrate hyperpolarizes hippocampal neurons by activating GABA B receptors. Eur J Pharmacol 1992; 212: 291-4
- Schmidt-Mutter C, Muller C, Zwiller J, et al. Gobaille S. Gamma-hydroxybutyrate and cocaine administration increases mRNA expression of dopamine D1 and D2 receptors in rat brain. Neuropsychopharmacology 1999; 21 (5): 662-9

- Hechler V, Gobaille S, Maitre M. Selective distribution pattern of gamma-hydroxybutyrate receptors in the rat forebrain and midbrain as revealed by quantitative autoradiography. Brain Res 1992; 572: 345-8
- Rumigny J, Maitre M, Cash C, et al. Regional and subcellular localization in the rat brain of the enzymes that can synthesize gamma-hydroxybutyric acid. J Neurochem 1981; 36: 1433-8
- Benavides J, Rumigny J, Bourguignon J, et al. A high-affinity, Na⁺-dependent uptake system for gamma-hydroxybutyrate in membrane vesicles prepared from rat brain. J Neurochem 1982; 38: 1570-5
- 23. Bania TC, Ashar T, Press G, et al. Gamma-hydroxybutyric acid tolerance and withdrawal in a rat model. Acad Emerg Med 2003; 10 (7): 697-704
- van Sassenbroeck D, De Paepe P, Belpaire F, et al. Tolerance to gammahydroxybutyrate in the rat: pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic aspects. Acad Emerg Med 2002; 9: 484-5
- Mycyk MB, Wilemon C, Aks SE. Two cases of withdrawal from 1,4-butanediol use. Ann Emerg Med 2001; 38 (3): 345-6
- Mamelak M. Gamma-hydroxybutyrate: an endogenous regulator of energy metabolism. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 1989; 13: 187-98
- Miotto K, Darakjian J, Basch J, et al. Gamma-hydroxybutyric acid: patterns of use, effects and withdrawal. Am J Addict 2001; 10 (3): 232-41
- Rosenberg MH, Deerfield LJ, Baruch EM. Two cases of severe gamma-hydroxybutyrate withdrawal delirium on a psychiatric unit: recommendations for Management. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse 2003; 29 (2): 487-96
- Galloway GP, Frederick SL, Staggers Jr FE, et al. Gamma-hydroxybutyrate: an emerging drug of abuse that causes physical dependence. Addiction 1997; 92 (1): 89-96
- Sivilotti MAL, Burns MJ, Aaron CK, et al. Pentobarbital for severe gammabutyrolactone withdrawal. Ann Emerg Med 2001; 38 (6): 660-5
- Sharma AN, Nelson L, Hoffman RS. Severe gamma-butyrolactone withdrawal [abstract]. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 2000; 38: 535
- Greene T, Dougherty T, Rodi A. Gamma-butyrolactone (GBL) withdrawal presenting as acute psychosis [abstract]. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 1999; 37: 651
- Hoes MJ, Vree TB, Guelen PJ. Gamma-hydroxybutyric acid as hypnotic: clinical and pharmacokinetic evaluation of gamma-hydroxybutyric acid as hypnotic in man. Encephale 1980; 6: 93-9
- Saitz R, Mayo-Smith MF, Roberts MS, et al. Individualized treatment for alcohol withdrawal: a randomized double-blind controlled trial. JAMA 1994; 272: 519-23
- Craig K, Gomez H, McManus J, et al. Severe gamma-hydroxybutyrate withdrawal: a case report and literature review. J Emerg Med 2000; 18: 65-70
- Berton F, Brancucci A, Beghe F, et al. Gamma-hydroxybutyrate inhibits excitatory postsynaptic potentials in rat hippocampal slices. Eur J Pharmacol 1999; 380 (2-3): 109-16
- Blum K, Eubanks JD, Wallace JE, et al. Enhancement of alcohol withdrawal convulsions in mice by haloperidol. Clin Toxicol 1976; 9: 427-34

Correspondence and offprints: Dr Asim F. Tarabar, Department of Surgery, Section of Emergency Medicine, Yale University School of Medicine, 464 Congress Avenue, Suite 260, New Haven, CT 06519-1315, USA. E-mail: asim.tarabar@yale.edu